IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 22-1530

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

COLBY DAVIS LAUB,
Defendant-Appellee.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE
IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BOONE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE STEPHEN A. OWEN, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

BRENNA BIRD
Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS E. BAKKE
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-8894 (fax)
Thomas.Bakke@ag.iowa.gov

MATTHEW SPEERS
Boone County Attorney

DANIEL BREITBARTH
Assistant Boone County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. **Implied Consent Procedures are Not the Exclusive Means to Obtain Chemical Testing, and it Offends Neither Due Process nor Equal Protection for an Officer to Obtain a Search Warrant.**

Authorities

Birchfield v. North Dakota, 579 U.S. 438 (2016)
Shade v. City of Farmington, Minnesota, 309 F.3d 1054 (8th Cir. 2002)
Beeman v. State, 86 S.W.3d 613 (Tex. Crim. App. 2002)
Brown v. State, 774 N.E.2d 1001 (Ind. Ct. App. 2002)
Gottschalk v. Sueppel, 258 Iowa 1173, 140 N.W.2d 866 (1966)
Pena v. State, 684 P.2d 864 (Alaska 1984)
People v. Marshall, 244 N.W.2d 451 (Mich. Ct. App. 1976)
People v. Raider, 516 P.3d 911 (Colo. 2022)
State v. Angel, 893 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Apt, 244 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Chavez, 767 S.E.2d 581 (N.C. Ct. App. 2014)
State v. Demaray, 704 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 2005)
State v. Dewbre, No. 21-1150, 2022 WL 10861226 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 19, 2022)
State v. Fischer, 785 N.W.2d 697 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Frescoln, 911 N.W.2d 450 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017)
State v. Garnenez, 344 P.3d 1054 (N.M. Ct. App. 2014)
State v. Geiss, 70 So. 3d 642 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011)
State v. Green, 91 So. 3d 315 (La. Ct. App. 2012)
State v. Jones, 666 N.W.2d 142 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Kilby, 961 N.W.2d 374 (Iowa 2021)
State v. Liggins, 524 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1994)
State v. McIver, 858 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Minett, 332 P.3d 235 (Mont. 2014)
State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Oakley, 469 N.W.2d 681 (Iowa 1991)
State v. Pettijohn, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Richardson, 279 So. 3d 501 (5th Cir. 2019)
State v. Schultz, 604 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Smith, 134 S.W.3d 35 (Mo. Ct. App. 2003)
State v. Stratmeier, 672 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Walker, 236 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa 1975)
State v. Wood, 922 N.W.2d 209 (Minn. Ct. App. 2019)
State v. Zaehring, 280 N.W.2d 416 (Iowa 1979)
State v. Zielke, 403 N.W.2d 427 (Wis. 1987)
Wheat v. State, No. 14-10-00029-CR, 2011 WL 1259642
(Tex. App. Apr. 5, 2011)
Iowa Code § 4.2
Iowa Code § 4.4
Iowa Code § 4.1(21)
Iowa Code § 4.1(24)
Iowa Code § 321J.9
Iowa Code § 321J.12
Iowa Code § 321J.15
Iowa Code § 321J.18
Iowa Code § 321J.23
Iowa Code § 702.14
Iowa Code § 808.1(1)
Iowa Code § 808.3(1)(a)
Iowa Code § 808.4
U.S. Const., IV Amend.
Iowa Const., Art. I, sec. 8. A
Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

II. The District Court's Overly Broad Application of the Exclusionary Rule was Untethered to the Impropriety it Found.

Authorities

Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431 (1984)
State v. Jones, 666 N.W.2d 142 (Iowa 2003)
State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671 (Iowa 2007)
State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Seager, 571 N.W.2d 204 (Iowa 1997)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The district court's grant of suppression conflicts with authority published by both the Iowa Supreme Court and the Iowa Court of Appeals. *E.g.*, *State v. Oakley*, 469 N.W.2d 681, 682–83 (Iowa 1991); *State v. Frescoln*, 911 N.W.2d 450, 452–53, 454, 455 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017). The Court should transfer this matter to the Court of Appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Colby Davis Laub was charged with operating while intoxicated, first offense, in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2(2)(a). Trial Info.; App. 4–5. He moved to suppress evidence and the court granted his motion. Mot. Supp.; Ruling; App. 6–10, 13–28. The State sought, and obtained, discretionary review.

Course of Proceedings

On February 24, 2022, the State filed a trial information charging Laub with operating while intoxicated. Trial Info.; App. 4–5. It was alleged Laub operated a vehicle with a .168 blood alcohol content (BAC). *See* Complaint; Minutes; Conf. App. 3–26.

On May 16, 2022, Laub moved to suppress. Mot. Supp.; App. 6–10. His motion asserted, in part, that it was unconstitutional for an

officer to obtain a chapter 808 search warrant for chemical testing because “[t]he implied consent statutes under Chapter 321J provide the exclusive means” for conducting such testing. Mot. Supp. at ¶ 17(A); App. 8. Specifically, he asserted the officer’s decision to obtain a warrant rather than invoking implied consent violated both his due process and equal protection constitutional rights. Mot. Supp. at ¶¶ 17(D)–(E); App. 9. The State resisted and a hearing was held. Resistance; App. 11–12.

Following the hearing, in a 16-page order, the court granted Laub’s motion and found it was a violation of Laub’s due process and equal protection rights for the officer to obtain a search warrant rather than invoking implied consent. Ruling; App. 13–28. The court then ordered the following evidence suppressed: (1) “the search warrant documents, breath testing procedures and breath testing results” and (2) “any verbal or non-verbal assertions [Laub] made upon and after being handcuffed.” Ruling at p.15; App. 27.

The State subsequently sought discretionary review from the Iowa Supreme Court, and the Court granted the State’s application.

Facts

The district court found the facts below:

On February 12, 2022, Mr. Laub was driving a vehicle in Boone County, Iowa. He was stopped by Deputy McCrea for going 4 mph over the limit and “swaying in his lane”. The deputy makes contact with the defendant at the driver’s window of defendant’s vehicle. He explains his belief defendant is impaired and asks defendant to submit to [field sobriety testing (FST)] “to prove [Mr. Laub] is safe to drive.” He explains the FST, Mr. Laub refuses to engage in FST and he is placed in handcuffs. No PBT was offered.

Deputy McCrea obtains a search warrant. He offers Mr. Laub only the choice of providing a blood, breath or urine sample. Mr. Laub chooses a breath test. The test is performed at the jail with a DataMaster device. Implied consent is not invoked. ... When asked why he obtained a search warrant instead of invoking implied consent, Deputy McCrea stated he believed it to be the “simplest” option. However, on cross examination Deputy McCrea acknowledged Mr. Laub’s right to refuse testing under implied consent. Deputy McCrea gave Mr. Laub a choice of which body sample to submit, but also testified that Mr. Laub could not refuse.

After a breath sample is obtained via the search warrant, Deputy McCrea informs Mr. Laub the DataMaster returned a blood alcohol level of .168. It is not until now that Mr. Laub is fully informed he is under arrest. ...

Ruling at p.2 (second alteration in original); App. 14. One point of clarification is that the officer stated that obtaining a search warrant was “by choice and discretion,” and because he decided it would be

the “simplest, most straightforward option in this case.” Supp. Tr. 13:16–:22.

ARGUMENT

I. **Implied Consent Procedures are Not the Exclusive Means to Obtain Chemical Testing, and it Offends Neither Due Process nor Equal Protection for an Officer to Obtain a Search Warrant.**

Preservation of Error

The defendant moved to suppress the evidence arguing the search warrant for chemical testing violated both due process and equal protection principles. Mot. Supp.; App. 6–10. The State resisted and after a hearing the court granted the defendant’s motion. Resistance; Ruling; App. 11–12, 13–28. Error is preserved.

Standard of Review

Appellate review is de novo when a constitutional error is alleged. *State v. Tague*, 676 N.W.2d 197, 201 (Iowa 2004) (citing *State v. Naujoks*, 637 N.W.2d 101, 106 (Iowa 2001)). “The court makes an ‘independent evaluation of the totality of the circumstances as shown by the entire record.’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Turner*, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)). The court grants “considerable deference to the trial court’s findings regarding the credibility of the witnesses, but [is] not bound by them.” *Id.* (citing *Turner*, 630

N.W.2d at 606; *State v. Liggins*, 524 N.W.2d 181, 186 (Iowa 1994)). A ruling on a motion to suppress based on a court's statutory interpretations is reviewed for correction of errors at law. *See State v. Fischer*, 785 N.W.2d 697, 699 (Iowa 2010) (citing *State v. Stratmeier*, 672 N.W.2d 817, 820 (Iowa 2003)).

Merits

The district court concluded Iowa Code section 321J.6 superseded all other forms of OWI investigation including a search warrant issued under chapter 808; that controlling, published Iowa Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent was inapplicable; and that the officer's decision to apply for and obtain a warrant for a blood sample violated Laub's due process and equal protection rights. It relied on these conclusions to find that results of a warrant issued by a neutral and detached magistrate should be suppressed. Ruling at pp.14–15; App. 26–27. Each of these conclusions is erroneous. This Court should reverse.

A. The implied consent procedures contained in chapter 321J are not the exclusive means through which the State may conduct OWI investigations.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution both safeguard the right to

be free from “unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const., IV Amend.; Iowa Const., Art. I, sec. 8. A warrantless search is presumed unreasonable and any evidence resulting from the search is inadmissible unless it falls within one of the well-recognized exceptions. *State v. Frescoln*, 911 N.W.2d 450, 453 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017).

The implied consent law, contained in chapter 321J, provides a statutory mechanism to invoke a warrant exception. “Consent to chemical testing obtained under the implied consent statute falls under the voluntary consent exception to the warrant requirement.” *Id.* The implied consent law was enacted “to protect public safety and eliminate intoxicated driving from Iowa roads.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. McIver*, 858 N.W.2d 699, 704 (Iowa 2015)). But despite the existence of a warrant exception, “obtaining a search warrant is the preferred method for conducting a constitutionally permissible search.” *Id.*

The district court here effectively concluded Iowa Code chapter 321J is the exclusive means of investigating and obtaining a bodily specimen for conducting an OWI investigation. *See* Ruling; App. 13–28. This is not so.

Iowa law holds that Iowa Code chapter 321J does not supersede chapter 808's provisions permitting the State to obtain a warrant:

The provision for a search warrant in section 321J.10 does not limit the State's authority to obtain a search warrant under the general search warrant provisions of Iowa Code chapter 808. Indeed, section 321J.10(2) expressly provides that search warrants may be obtained either under the limited circumstances of section 321J.10(3) or in accordance with chapter 808. *The legislature obviously did not intend for chapter 321J to preempt chapter 808.*

State v. Oakley, 469 N.W.2d 681, 682–83 (Iowa 1991) (emphasis added). As the Court of Appeals discussed in *State v. Frescoln*:

Frescoln asserts the Iowa legislature removed the option of obtaining a chemical sample by warrant when it enacted our implied consent laws. Under Frescoln's interpretation, an officer may only obtain a sample for chemical testing by following the procedure established by our implied consent statute.

...

[W]e find the State's ability to obtain chemical testing is not limited to the provisions of chapter 321J so long as the procedure utilized conforms to constitutional requirements. Adhering to the warrant requirement is the best means upon which to conform to the constitutional protections from unreasonable searches and seizures.

Frescoln, 911 N.W.2d at 452–53, 455.

The district court concluded an officer engaged in an OWI investigation must comply with the procedure set out in section 321J.6 and offer the suspect the opportunity to refuse a chemical test and cannot obtain a warrant independent of that sequence. *See* Ruling at pp.3–6; App. 15–18. But no portion of Iowa Code chapter 321J contains such a requirement. It was improper for the district court to read such a requirement into the statute. *See State v. Schultz*, 604 N.W.2d 60, 62 (Iowa 1999) (“Our goal is to look at what the legislature said, not what it might or should have said. In looking at the language used, we will not construe a statute in a way which creates an impractical or absurd result, nor will we speculate as to the probable legislative intent beyond what the language clearly states.” (internal citations omitted)).

The district court’s conclusion defies other provisions of chapter 321J and published Iowa appellate precedent. Chapter 321J itself states it is not the exclusive means, and it conflicts with that language to hold otherwise:

[Chapter 321J] does not limit the introduction of any competent evidence bearing on the question of whether a person was under the influence of an alcoholic beverage or a controlled substance or other drug...

Iowa Code § 321J.18; see Iowa Code § 321J.15. The “supreme court has said this provision ‘expresses our legislature’s intent that [chapter 321J] “not be construed as limiting the introduction of competent evidence bearing on whether an accused was intoxicated.” ’ ”

Frescoln, 911 N.W.2d at 454 (quoting *State v. Demaray*, 704 N.W.2d 60, 64 (Iowa 2005)); accord *Oakley*, 469 N.W.2d at 682 (“Although *Oakley* insists otherwise, the State was not required to comply with Iowa Code section 321J.10 in order to take advantage of *Oakley*’s efforts to secure an independent test under section 321J.11. The two sections are not interdependent.”). The published opinion in *Frescoln* directly rejected the type of statutory interpretation the district court engaged in here:

Frescoln argues the procedures outlined in chapter 321J are the only means by which law enforcement may obtain chemical testing of an OWI suspect. He attempts to construe the statute in a manner making it the exclusive means by which law enforcement can obtain chemical testing of persons suspected of OWI. However, nothing in the statute expressly requires this finding. “We do not read a requirement into a statutory scheme when none exists because ‘[i]t is not our province to write such a requirement into the [implied consent] statute.’” *State v. Fischer*, 785 N.W.2d 697, 705-06 (Iowa 2010) (alteration in original) (quoting *Gottschalk v. Sueppel*, 258 Iowa 1173, 140 N.W.2d 866, 872 (1966)).

The explicit language of chapter 321J and our supreme court's prior decisions indicate the implied consent statute is not the exclusive means by which law enforcement may obtain chemical testing.

911 N.W.2d at 454. By its own provisions and cases construing them, chapter 321J is not the exclusive means for an officer to obtain a bodily specimen for an OWI investigation.

Iowa does not stand alone in recognizing officers may pursue constitutionally permissible avenues outside of implied consent when conducting OWI investigations. Other courts have reached the same conclusion. *E.g.*, *People v. Raider*, 516 P.3d 911, 918 (Colo. 2022) (“[The Express Consent Statute] does *not* apply to blood draws performed pursuant to a judicially authorized search warrant for which consent is unnecessary. That is, because consent operates as an *exception* to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement, the Expressed Consent Statute necessarily doesn’t contemplate searches performed *pursuant to* a warrant. Accordingly, it would be illogical to deem a warrant as an exception to a consent statute when, in fact, consent is an exception to the warrant requirement.” (emphasis in original)); *Brown v. State*, 774 N.E.2d 1001, 1007 (Ind. Ct. App. 2002) (“The provisions of the implied consent law do not act either

individually or collectively to prevent a law enforcement officer from obtaining a blood sample pursuant to a search warrant. Proscribing the use of a search warrant as a means of obtaining evidence of a driver's intoxication 'would be to place allegedly drunken drivers in an exalted class of criminal defendants, protected by the law from every means of obtaining the most important evidence against them.' ” (quoting *Pena v. State*, 684 P.2d 864, 869 (Alaska 1984) (Compton, J., dissenting)); *State v. Green*, 91 So. 3d 315, 316 (La. Ct. App. 2012) (“The right to refuse chemical testing ..., and circumvent the implied consent ..., does not supersede a validly obtained search warrant for bodily fluids.”); *State v. Wood*, 922 N.W.2d 209, 216 (Minn. Ct. App. 2019) (“[N]othing in the implied-consent law prevents an officer from obtaining and executing a search warrant that will yield a sample of bodily fluid that may be tested.”); *State v. Smith*, 134 S.W.3d 35, 40 (Mo. Ct. App. 2003) (“The Missouri Implied Consent Law was enacted to codify the procedures under which a law enforcement officer could obtain bodily fluids for testing by consent without a search warrant. It provides administrative and procedural remedies for refusal to comply. Because it is directed only to warrantless tests authorized by law enforcement officers, it does

not restrict the state’s ability to apply for a search warrant to obtain evidence in criminal cases ... or a court’s power to issue a search warrant....”); *State v. Minett*, 332 P.3d 235, 263 (Mont. 2014) (“[T]here is nothing in the statute that prohibits an officer from obtaining a search warrant for blood alcohol testing”); *State v. Garnenez*, 344 P.3d 1054, 1058 (N.M. Ct. App. 2014) (“We do not ... read our Implied Consent Act to prohibit an officer from obtaining a blood sample using a search warrant supported by probable cause.”); *State v. Chavez*, 767 S.E.2d 581, 584 (N.C. Ct. App. 2014) (“[The implied consent statute] is not applicable to this case because defendant’s blood was drawn pursuant to a search warrant.”); *Beeman v. State*, 86 S.W.3d 613, 616 (Tex. Crim. App. 2002) (en banc) (“The implied consent law expands on the State’s search capabilities by providing a framework for drawing DWI suspects’ blood in the absence of a search warrant. It gives officers an additional weapon in their investigative arsenal, enabling them to draw blood in certain limited circumstances even without a search warrant. But once a valid search warrant is obtained by presenting facts establishing probable cause to a neutral and detached magistrate, consent, implied or explicit, becomes moot.”); *State v.*

Zielke, 403 N.W.2d 427, 433 (Wis. 1987) (“[W]e hold that if evidence is otherwise constitutionally obtained, there is nothing in the implied consent law which renders it inadmissible in a subsequent criminal prosecution. Chemical test evidence may be otherwise legally obtained if it is seized pursuant to a valid search warrant, incident to a lawful arrest, under exigent circumstances supported by probable cause to arrest, or with the consent of the driver.” (internal citations omitted)).

The district court found the “plain language” of Iowa Code chapter 808 forecloses warrants from being used to obtain “bodily samples.” Ruling at p.6; App. 18. But this conclusion forgets that Iowa courts do not use hypercritical statutory analysis to strike down facially sufficient warrants: “There is a preference for warrants and we construe them in a commonsense manner, resolving doubtful cases in favor of their validity.” *State v. Angel*, 893 N.W.2d 904, 911 (Iowa 2017); see *State v. Richardson*, 279 So. 3d 501, 512 (5th Cir. 2019) (“[C]ourts should strive to uphold warrants to encourage their use by police officers.”).

The district court concluded that because section 808.2 authorizes warrants to be issued for “property,” a search for bodily

samples is not authorized. Ruling at p.6; App. 18. But this conclusion both fails to consider chapter 808 in its entirety, and it fails to correctly interpret “property.”

Iowa law permits the search of a person pursuant to a search warrant. Search warrants may permit an officer to “search a *person*, place, or thing.” Iowa Code § 808.1(1) (emphasis added); *accord* Iowa Code § 808.4. Officers may apply for a search warrant based on an application describing “the *person*, place, or thing to be searched and the property to be seized with sufficient specificity to enable an independent reasonable person with reasonable effort to ascertain and identify the *person*, place, or thing.” Iowa Code § 808.3(1)(a) (emphasis added).

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