IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

SUPREME COURT NO. 22-1530

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff- Appellant,  
vs.

COLBY DAVIS LAUB,  
Defendant-Appellee.

---

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR  
BOONE COUNTY THE HONORABLE STEPHEN A. OWEN, JUDGE.

---

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

---

MATTHEW T. LINDHOLM  
GOURLEY, REHKEMPER, & LINDHOLM, P.L.C.  
440 Fairway Dr., Suite 210  
West Des Moines, IA 50266  
Telephone: (515) 226-0500  
Facsimile: (515) 244-2914  
mtlindholm@grllaw.com  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

**CERTIFICATE OF FILING**

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

**ii. *State v. Demaray* should be limited to the facts.**

*Demaray* differs largely from *Oakley* and the instant case because it did not involve law enforcement seeking an *consensually* withdrawn blood sample with a search warrant but instead involved the *consensual* release of medical records

containing blood alcohol test results from a sample withdrawn by medical professionals for medical treatment purposes. 704 N.W.2d at 61. “*Demaray*, argued that the blood test results were not admissible because the blood sample was not *withdrawn* in compliance with the implied consent statute.” *Id.* 62. Specifically, he argued that section 321J.11 precluded admission of the medical records derived from his sample because the sample was not withdrawn by medical professionals “*acting at the request of a peace officer.*” *Id.* See Iowa Code Section 321J.11 (providing that only certain medical professional “acting at the request of a peace officer may withdraw a specimen of blood...”). The state resisted “arguing that the implied consent statute is not the exclusive means by which an officer can obtain blood test results in OWI cases.” *Id.*

However, like *Oakley*, the Court misidentified the true issue being presented as “whether 321J.11 is the exclusive means by which law enforcement *may obtain a blood sample from a defendant* in an OWI case.” *Id.* (emphasis added). In doing so, the court conflated the voluntary release of medical records containing test results from a voluntarily withdrawn sample with the compelled extraction of a blood sample without consent. Thus, the issue the Court was actually faced with was “whether Iowa Code Section 321J.11 precludes the State from obtaining medical



records with consent of the defendant when the underlying blood sample was not withdrawn at the request of a police officer.”

Framed correctly, the Court’s conclusion is logical and easy to follow but certainly does not authorize law enforcement the use of the general search warrant statute to forcibly extract a body specimen. In reaching their decision, the Court acknowledged, as they must, that “Section 321J.6 contains the primary conditions limiting the circumstances under which Iowa peace officers may require *submission to chemical testing.*” *Id.* at 62; *Palmer*, 554 N.W.2d at 862. (emphasis added) However, because the evidence at issue was not the compelled submission to chemical testing at the request of a peace officer but the consensual release of medical records, the Court turned to Iowa Code Section 321J.18, to resolve the issue.

Iowa Code section 321J.18 is titled “Other evidence” and provides:

This chapter does not limit the introduction of any competent evidence bearing on the question of whether a person was under the influence of an alcoholic beverage or a controlled substance or other drug, including the results of chemical tests of specimens of blood, breath, or urine obtained more than two hours after the person was operating a motor vehicle.

Relying on this section the Court reasoned that admission of the evidence was not precluded because the defendant provided consent independent of Chapter 321J and thereby waived any arguments relating to those rights and procedures. 704 N.W.2d at 64 (“[consent may be given independent of [chapter 321J]; and the requirement

of the implied consent law may be waived” (citing *State v. Wallin*, 195 N.W.2d 95, 98 (Iowa 1972)). The Court then ultimately concluded “that the implied consent law is not the exclusive means by which the State may *obtain blood test evidence* from a defendant in an OWI proceeding.” 704 N.W.2d at 64. (emphasis added).

When framed correctly, this analysis and conclusion is sound but clearly does not authorize what the State seeks. Because this case is being used as a sword to extract authority it did not clearly provide, this court should limit the holding situations where medical records are consensually released.

**iii. *State v. Frescoln* should be overturned.**

Only one case has evolved from the misguided rationale and factual differences exploited above which lends supports to the State. *See State v. Frescoln*, 911 N.W.2d 450 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017). In *Frescoln*, the court found that “the explicit language of chapter 321J and our supreme court’s prior decisions indicate the implied consent statute is not the exclusive means by which law enforcement may obtain chemical testing” and concluded the implied consent statutes could be bypassed for a search warrant. *Id.* at 454. The “explicit language of Chapter 321J” was found exclusively in section 321J.18 and the “supreme court’s prior precedent” was limited to *Demaray* and *Oakley*. *Id.* at 454-55. No other authority was discussed and no other analysis was conducted.

As discussed, *supra*, there are factual and analysis deficiencies with *Demaray* and *Oakley*, but there are other reasons why *Frescoln* was wrongly decided. First, the plain language of Iowa Code Section 321J.18 does not expressly authorize obtaining a search warrant. In fact, the statute does not use the word warrant nor does it incorporate by reference any statutes that allow search warrants. The authority to issue a warrant is derived only from statutory enactments. *Meier v. Sulhoff*, 360 N.W.2d 722, 727 (Iowa 1985) (“Because there is no common-law right to issue a search warrant ... we lack the authority to expand by judicial fiat the purposes fixed by the legislature for which search warrants may lawfully issue.”). By interpreting this code section as providing that authority the court read into the statute something that did not exist and “expand[ed] by judicial fiat” authority to lawfully issue a warrant that the legislature did not grant. *Id.*

Second, if the legislature wanted to give authority to issue a search warrant under that section, they knew how to do so. *See* Iowa Code Section 321J.10(2) (“search warrants may be issued under this section in full compliance with Chapter 8098 or they may be issued under subsection 3). This court cannot read into a statute something that is not apparent on the face of the statute. *See State v. Guzman-Juarez*, 591 N.W.2d 1, 2 (Iowa 1999) (“the court cannot read into a statute something that the legislature did not make apparent by the language.”).

Third, the Court of Appeals in *Frescoln* did not thoroughly consider the goals or intent of the legislature by analyzing other portions of Chapter 321J. Instead, the court only considered Iowa Code Section 321J.18 in isolation, which was a dereliction of their duty. *See Rolfe State Bank v. Gunderson*, 794 N.W.2d 561, 565 (Iowa 2011) (“in determining legislative intent, we avoid placing undue importance on isolated portions of an enactment by construing all parts of the enactment together.”); *Sanon v. City of Pella*, 865 N.W.2d 506, 511 (Iowa 2015) (when interpreting statutes “we look at the entire chapter when the legislature enacted the statute, so we may give the statute it’s proper meaning in context”). As discussed above, other portions of 321J indicate the legislatures intent to limit the ability to obtain a search warrant in a standard OWI case.

Most importantly, the Court of Appeals concluded that, “adhering to the warrant requirement is the best means upon which to conform to the constitutional protections from unreasonable search and seizures” but in doing so ignored the holdings of other binding cases. 911 N.W.2d at 455. In *State v. Rains*, 574 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa 1998), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Williams*, 895 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2017), a blood sample was involuntarily obtained from the defendant following a traffic accident by hospital staff for medical purposes. *Id.* at 912. The

State sought and obtained a search warrant for the blood samples that had already been withdrawn and tested them.

*Rains* sought suppression and argued “that *once a specimen is produced* it cannot be obtained from the holder of that specimen, whether it be a hospital, laboratory, or the defendant himself.” *Id.* at 913. The court disagreed with Rain’s contention because the sample was not extracted at the government’s direction. *Id.* at 914. Not surprisingly, the Court specifically condemned the exact authority the state is seeking:

“*a person cannot be required to submit to a blood, urine, or breath specimen via a warrant except in strictly circumscribed situations such as under section 321J.10.* This interpretation of the language in question is in accord with our implied consent statute. *The warrant in question here did not request production of a specimen by Rains; rather, it requested production by the hospital of a specimen **already obtained** from Rains.*” Emphasis Added.

In addition to *Rains*, other court pronouncements undermine the holding in *Frescoln*. See *State v. McGee*, 959 N.W.2d 432, 445-46 (“we doubt [a warrant] would add meaningfully to the existing protections for drivers derived from the implied consent law” and “someone who is conscious can decide whether to consent or not to consent to testing so it logical to given them the choices delineated in Iowa Code Sections 321J.6 and 321J.9.”); *Palmer*, 554 N.W.2d at 862 (Iowa 1996) (“Section 321J.6 contains the primary conditions limiting the circumstances under which Iowa peace officers may require *submission to* chemical testing”); *State v.*

*Owens*, 418 N.W.2d 340, 345-46 (Iowa 1988) (“police must respect a driver’s refusal when no fatality is involved and can only resort to revocation”); *State v. Jensen*, 216 N.W.2d 369, 374 (Iowa 1974) (“we have consistently held the [implied consent] statute must be explicitly followed and evidence flowing from it’s application can be received only as expressly provided”); *State v. Baraki*, 981 N.W.2d 693, 697 (Iowa 2022) (the choice to consent or refuse under the implied consent statute “is not constitutionally required for a breath test which can be upheld anyway as a search incident to arrest but it is statutorily required”).

#### **D. Limitations of Iowa Code chapter 808.**

If this Court is unconvinced that the legislature intended to place limits on the discretionary authority of law enforcement to seek search warrants through the enactment of chapter 321J, then the Court must determine if Iowa Code Chapter 808 actually provides the authority the State seeks. As previously stated, the authority to issue a warrant is solely derived by statute. *Sulhoff*, 360 N.W.2d at 727. Iowa’s general search warrant statutes are contained in Chapter 808. Under this Chapter search warrants may be issued to seize “property.” See Iowa Code Section 808.2 (delineating four ways in which “property” may be seized.) Iowa Code Section 808.3(1) applies to search warrant applications and specifically provides that “the application shall describe the person, place or thing to be searched *and the property*

*to be seized...*” (emphasis added). Iowa Code Section 808.4 provides that the search warrant should command that the peace officer “*search the named person, place, or thing within the state for the property specified and to bring any property seized before the magistrate.*” (emphasis added).

In light of these statutory provisions, it is clear that the legislature intended to differentiate between a “search” and a “seizure” with the latter being restricted to “property.” *See Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 134 (1990) (“a search comprises the individual interest in privacy; a seizure deprives the individual of dominion over his or his or her person or property”). “Property” is defined as “real and personal property.” Iowa Code Section 4.1(24). “Personal Property” is defined as “money, goods, chattles, evidence of debt, and things in action.” Iowa Code Section 4.1(21).

The State seeks to apply a broader definition of “property” by referencing Iowa Code Section 702.14; however, this is inconsistent. Iowa Code Section 702.1 provides that “wherever a term, word, or phrase is defined in the *criminal code*, such meaning shall be given wherever it appears in the code unless it is being specially defined for a special purpose.” (emphasis added). The “Iowa Criminal Code” contains “Chapters 701 through 728.” *See* Iowa Code Section 701.1 (“Chapters 701 through 728 shall be known *and may be cited as the ‘Iowa Criminal Code.’*”). (Emphasis Added). Iowa Code Chapter 808 is not part of the “Iowa Criminal Code,”

therefore the definition in Chapter 702 are not applicable to search warrants. *See* Iowa Code Section 801.1 (“Chapters 801 through 819 shall be known *and may be cited as the ‘Iowa Code of Criminal Procedure.’*”) (emphasis added). However, even if the definition of property contained in 702.14 applies to warrants, it does not expand the definition beyond what is contained in the definition of “real property” or “personal property.”

Regardless of the definition used, there are several legal reasons why a body specimen cannot be considered property. First, a person is not property and thus any portion of that person cannot be considered property. *In re Ralph*, 1 Morris 1, 9 (Iowa 1839). Second, the legislature specifically provided authority to obtain body specimens in other statutes but neglected to do so in Chapter 808 which suggests they did not intend to include body specimens in the definition of property. *See* Iowa Code Section 321J.10(1) (providing authority for search warrant to test for drugs or alcohol in death or serious injury accident cases) and Iowa Code Section 810.1 and 810.3 (specifically allowing the collection of body specimens as non-testimonial identification through a court order only for a felony). Third, the legislature created additional limitations and safeguards when providing the authority to obtain body specimens but failed to do so under Chapter 808. *See* 321J.10(5) and 810.14 (only authorizing punishment as contempt for failure to comply with a legally authorized



request for a body specimen). Fourth, as discussed, *supra*, Chapter 321J and 808 conflict because of the limitations and safeguards contained in Chapter 321J, which are absent in Chapter 808, and therefore the general search warrant statutes must yield so the specific provisions of Chapter 321J.

Additionally, there are policy concerns to consider. First, allowing the State to bypass the implied consent statutes undermines the *quid pro quo* between motorists and the State thereby threatening the foundation and continued viability of implied consent. *Hitchens*, 294 N.W.2d at 687, (implied consent is based on “the basic principle that a driver impliedly agrees to submit to a test *in return for* the privilege of using the public highways”). (emphasis added). Second, this procedure creates an increased likelihood for physical confrontations between citizens and police officers. Third, it creates a slippery slope which allows the state to withdraw *any* bodily substance without limitation which could theoretically include semen, bile, a section of skin, a toenail, an organ, an egg, or even an embryo that has not yet reach viability. Finally, there is no statutory guidance on how those samples will be extracted, tested, stored, or admissibility determined which threatens to render Chapter 321J void for vagueness.

If a body specimen is considered “property” under chapter 808, it should not become property unless and until it is extracted by some means other than compelled

by law enforcement. Limiting the definition in this manner would validate the intent of the legislature, provide support for the premise underlying the implied consent statutes, soundly square Chapter 808 with 321J, and avoid any the policy concerns discussed above. *See State v. Distefano*, 764 A.2d 1156 (R.I. 2000) (addressing many of the issues above and concluding blood is not property).

## **II. Discretionary Application of Chapter 321J Violates the Constitutional Right to Equal Protection and Due Process of the Laws.**

### **Preservation of Error**

For the reasons set forth in the State’s brief, the Appellee agrees that he has preserved error on the constitutional issues raised in the motion to suppress.

However, the same cannot be said for the State. The State never mentioned the words, “due process”, “equal protection” or even “constitution” in their written resistance or in the record before the district court. As such, the State has waived any constitutional arguments on this issue as they failed to properly resist or raise those arguments to the district court. *See State v. Baldon*, 829 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 2013) (precluding the State from raising a constitutional argument not presented to the district court). Nevertheless, the merits of these issues will be addressed out of the abundance of caution.

### **Standard of Review**

Because these issues involve constitutional issues the standard of review is de novo. *State v. Tague*, 676 N.W.2d 197, 201 (Iowa 2004).

### **Merits**

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